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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 

The Shareholders 

Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC 

Dubai 

United Arab Emirates 

 

Report on the consolidated financial statements 

 

Opinion  

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - 

PJSC (the “Company”), and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated financial 

performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

Basis for opinion  

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 

with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 

Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the 

ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United 

Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 

and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Cont’d... 

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC (continued) 

 

Key audit matters (continued) 

 
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

IT systems and controls over financial reporting  

We identified IT systems and controls over financial 

reporting as an area of focus due to the extensive 

volume and variety of transactions which are 

processed daily by the Group and rely on the 

effective operation of automated and IT dependent 

manual controls. There is a risk that automated 

accounting procedures and related internal controls 

are not accurately designed and operating 

effectively. In particular, the incorporated relevant 

controls are essential to address the potential risk for 

fraud and error as a result of change to applications 

or underlying data. 

We obtained an understanding of the applications 

relevant to financial reporting and the infrastructure 

supporting these applications. 

We tested IT general controls relevant to the 

identified automated controls and Information 

Produced by the Entity (IPEs) covering access 

security, program changes, data center and network 

operations. 

We examined certain Information Produced by the 

Entity (IPEs) used in the financial reporting from 

relevant applications and key controls over their 

report logics as well as preparation and 

maintenance.  

We performed testing on the key automated 

controls on significant IT systems relevant to 

business processes. 

We tested the interfaces among identified systems 

in order to determine whether information is being 

transmitted in an accurate and complete manner. 

 

Other information  

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Chairman’s 

Statement and the Group’s Annual Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and 

our auditor’s report thereon), which are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s 

report. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.  

 

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 

auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

When we read the Chairman’s Statement and the Group’s Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with 

governance. 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC (continued) 

 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 

statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and their preparation in 

compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.  

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management.  
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC (continued) 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 

• Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit 

work performed for purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit.  

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 

to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 

a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that for the year ended  

31 December 2024: 
 

• we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

• the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the 

applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021;   

• the Group has maintained proper books of account; 

• as disclosed in note 27.5 to the consolidated financial statements the Group has purchased or invested 

in shares during the year ended 31 December 2024; 

• note 15 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions, and the 

terms under which they were conducted;  

• based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention that 

causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the year ended 31 December 2024, any 

of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, or in respect of the 

Company, its Memorandum of Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial 

position as at 31 December 2024; and 

• as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not made social 

contributions during the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) 

 

 

  

Firas Anabtawi 

Registration No.: 5482 

30 January 2025 

Dubai 
United Arab Emirates 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2024   

 Notes 2024 2023 
ASSETS  AED’000 AED’000 
Non-current assets    
Goodwill  6 2,878,874 2,878,874 
Other intangible assets   6 1,807,653 1,864,142 
Property and equipment 7(a) 42,247 322,498 
Investment property 7(b) 288,461 - 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

 
8 1,230,632 1,018,948 

Investments at amortised cost 9 297,082 264,279 
Investment deposits 10 - 126,609 
    

Total non-current assets  6,544,949 6,475,350 
    

Current assets    
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 11 275,547 226,424 
Investment deposits 10 3,425,622 2,974,122 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 268,233 160,923 
    

Total current assets  3,969,402 3,361,469 
    

Total assets  10,514,351 9,836,819 
    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Equity    
Share capital 13 8,000,000 8,000,000 
Treasury shares  (4,364) (4,364) 
    

  7,995,636 7,995,636 
Investments revaluation reserve - FVTOCI    14 (275,674) (643,399) 
Statutory reserve  14 563,771 526,100 
Retained earnings  265,160 296,489 
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  8,548,893 8,174,826 
Non-controlling interest  17,079 17,420 
    

Total equity  8,565,972 8,192,246 
    

Non-current liabilities    
    
Lease liabilities 16 7,214 2,340 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits   17           21,064 21,259 
Deferred tax liability 32 826 - 
    

Total non-current liabilities  29,104 23,599 
    

Current liabilities    
Payables and accrued expenses 18 1,837,005 1,574,844 
Dividends payable  19 94 86 
Due to a related party 15 16,530 13,855 
Subordinated loan 15 32,189 32,189 
Corporate tax liability 32 33,457 - 
    

Total current liabilities  1,919,275 1,620,974 
    

Total liabilities   1,948,379 1,644,573 
    

Total equity and liabilities  10,514,351 9,836,819 
    

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial reporting, the consolidated 
financial statements present fairly in all material respects for consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance and 
consolidated cash flows of the Group. 
These consolidated financial statements were approved on 30 January 2025 by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
…………………  
Chairman
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss  

for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 

 

 Notes 2024 2023 

  AED’000 AED’000 

Operating income    

Trading commission fees  232,140 226,064 

Brokerage fees  12,268 12,108 

Clearing, settlement and depository fees  81,769 88,905 

Listing and market data fees  10,982 11,200 

Other fees  15,911 10,752 

    

  353,070 349,029 

Investment income 20 215,682 168,808 

Dividend income 21 43,688 20,254 

Other income  1,390 480 

Profit income  - 226 

Reversal of impairment on financial asset (net) 23 18,517 8,641 

    

Total income  632,347 547,438 

    

    

Operating expenses    

General and administrative expenses 22 (165,195) (161,023) 

Amortisation of other intangible assets 6 (56,489) (56,489) 

Interest expense 16 (1,340) (117) 

Profit expense  - (226) 

    

Total expenses  (223,024) (217,855) 

    

Profit before tax for the year   409,323 329,583 

Corporate tax expense 32 (32,954) - 

    

Net profit for the year  376,369 329,583 

    

    

Profit attributable to:    

Owners of the Company  376,710 329,404 

Non-controlling interest  (341) 179 

    

  376,369 329,583 

    

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share - AED 24 0.047 0.041 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

  

 Notes 2024 2023 

  AED’000 AED’000 

    

Net profit for the year   376,369 329,583 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    

Fair value changes on financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  278,580 49,812 

Deferred tax expense relating to fair value changes on 

financial assets measured at FVOCI  (826) - 

Current tax expense relating to fair value changes on 

financial assets measured at FVOCI  (503) - 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year  653,620 379,395 

    

    

Attributable to:    

Owners of the Company   653,961 379,216 

Non-controlling interest  (341) 179 

    

  653,620 379,395 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity  

for the year ended 31 December 2024 
  

 
Share 

 capital 
Treasury 

shares 

Investments 
revaluation 

reserve 
FVOCI 

Statutory 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Attributable to 
owners of the 

Company 

Non-
controlling 

interest Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
         

As at 1 January 2023  8,000,000   (4,364)  (693,211)  493,156   134,727   7,930,308   17,241   7,947,549  

Net profit for the year - - - - 329,404 329,404 179 329,583 

Fair value changes on financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - - 49,812 - - 49,812 - 49,812 

         

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 49,812 - 329,404 379,216 179 379,395 

Transactions with owners of the Company         

Dividends declared, net of appropriation of non-sharia 

compliant income (Note 19) - - - - (109,974) (109,974) - (109,974) 

Appropriation of non-sharia compliant income (Note 26) - - - - (24,683) (24,683) - (24,683) 

Transfer to statutory reserve (Note 14) - - - 32,944 (32,944) - - - 

Zakat - - - - (41) (41) - (41) 

         

As at 31 December 2023 8,000,000 (4,364) (643,399) 526,100 296,489 8,174,826 17,420 8,192,246 

Net profit for the year - - - - 376,710 376,710 (341) 376,369 

Fair value changes on financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - - 278,580 - - 278,580 - 278,580 

Deferred tax expense relating to fair value changes on 

financial assets measured at FVOCI - - (826) - - (826) - (826) 

Current tax expense relating to fair value changes on 

financial assets measured at FVOCI - - (503) - - (503) - (503) 

         

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 277,251 - 376,710 653,961 (341) 653,620 

Transactions with owners of the Company         

Dividends declared, net of appropriation of non-sharia 

compliant income (Note 19) - - - - (245,734) (245,734) - (245,734) 

Appropriation of non-sharia compliant income (Note 26) - - - - (34,117) (34,117) - (34,117) 

Transfer to retained earnings* - - 90,474 - (90,474) - - - 

Transfer to statutory reserve (Note 14) - - - 37,671 (37,671) - - - 

Zakat - - - - (43) (43) - (43) 

         

As at 31 December 2024 8,000,000 (4,364) (275,674) 563,771 265,160 8,548,893 17,079 8,565,972 

 
        

*This represents transfer of investment revaluation reserve upon disposal of investments in equity instruments designated as at FVOCI.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 

 Notes 2024 2023 

  AED’000 AED’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit for the year before tax  409,323 329,583 

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of property and equipment 7 18,193  20,934 

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 17 2,955  3,811 

Amortisation of other intangible assets 6 56,489  56,489 

Interest expense  16 1,340 117 

Investment income 20 (215,682) (168,808) 

Dividend income 21 (43,688) (20,254) 

Profit income  - (226) 

Profit expense  - 226 

Reversal of impairment on financial asset (net) 23 (18,517) (8,641) 

  
  

Operating cash flows before changes in operating  

  assets and liabilities 210,413 213,231 

Decrease in prepaid expenses and other receivables 116 1,823 

Increase in payables and accrued expenses                               212,246 71,819 

Increase/(decrease) in due to a related party  2,675 (3,723) 

  
  

Cash generated from operations  425,450 283,150 

Employees’ end of service benefits paid                            17 (3,150) (5,714) 

  
  

Net cash generated from operating activities  422,300 277,436 

  
  

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property and equipment   (6,568) (16,314) 

Movement in short term investment deposits   (451,500) (660,892) 

Movement in long term investment deposits  186,487  85,608 

Purchase of financial assets measured at FVTOCI  (14,580) (10,325) 

Purchase of investments at amortised cost  (41,462) - 
Redemptions of financials assets measured at FVTOCI and 
investments at amortised cost  49,748 20,218 

Income received from investment deposits  208,384 123,743 

Dividends received 21 43,688 20,254 

  
  

Net cash used in investing activities  (25,803) (437,708) 

  
  

Cash flows from financing activities                      

Lease liability paid 16 (9,344) (10,549) 

Dividends paid to shareholders  19 (279,843) (137,657) 

  
  

Net cash used in financing activities  (289,187) (148,206) 

  
  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  107,310 (308,478) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  160,923 469,401 

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  12 268,233 160,923 

  
  

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the principal non-cash transactions relate to the recognition of right-

of-use assets amounting to AED 16 million (31 December 2023: AED 5 million) and lease liabilities amounting 

to AED 16 million (31 December 2023: AED 5 million) respectively (Refer to Note 16). Moreover, non-cash 

transactions also represent the reclassification of land and building under construction from property and 

equipment to investment property [Refer Note 7(a) & &(b)].
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

 

1. Establishment and operations 

 

Dubai Financial Market (DFM) – PJSC (the “Company”) is a public joint stock company incorporated in 

the Emirate of Dubai – United Arab Emirates (“UAE”), pursuant to decree No. 62 for the year 2007 issued 

by the Ministry of Economy on 6 February 2007, and is subject to the provisions of the UAE Federal 

Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 (“Companies law”).  The Company received its registration under Federal Law 

No. 4 of 2000 with the Securities and Commodities Authority (‘SCA’) on 4 November 2000. 

 

The licensed activities of the Company are trading in financial instruments, acting as a commercial, 

industrial and agricultural holding and trust company, financial investment consultancy, and brokerage in 

local and foreign shares and bonds.  In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company complies 

with the provisions of Islamic Shari’a in all its activities and operations and invests its funds in accordance 

with these provisions. 

 

The Company’s shares are listed on the Dubai Financial Market (“DFM”). 

  

The Company currently operates the Dubai stock exchange, related clearing house and carries out 

investment activities on its own behalf. The registered address of the Company is Dubai World Trade 

Center, Sheikh Zayed Road, P.O. Box 9700, Dubai. 

 

The ultimate parent and controlling party is the Government of Dubai which owns 80.66% (31 December 

2023: 80.66%) of DFM through Borse Dubai Limited (the “Parent”), a Government of Dubai entity. 

 

These consolidated financial statements comprise DFM – (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiaries (together referred 

to as “the Group”). Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:    

 

 

Company name  

 

Activity  

Country of 

incorporation  

Ownership 

held 
       

Dubai Central Clearing and 

Depository Holding LLC*  

Holding Company  UAE  100% 

       

Nasdaq Dubai Limited**  Electronic Financial Market  UAE  67% *** 
 

*Dubai Central Clearing and Depository Holding LLC has the following subsidiaries: 

 

 

Company name  

 

Activity  

Country of 

incorporation  

Ownership 

held 
       

Dubai Clear LLC 

 

Securities Central Clearing 

Service  

UAE 

 

100% 

Dubai Central Securities 

Depository LLC  

Securities Depository 

Services  

UAE 

 

100% 

 

**Nasdaq Dubai Limited has the following subsidiary: 

 

Company name  

 

Activity  

Country of 

incorporation  

Ownership 

held 
       

Nasdaq Dubai Guardian 

Limited 

  Bare nominee solely on 

behalf of Nasdaq Dubai 

Limited 

 UAE  100% 

       

***The remaining 33% is held by Borse Dubai Limited (Note 25). 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) 

 

 

2. Application of new and revised Standards 
 

a) New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current period 

 

In the current period, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective for an annual period that 

begins on or after 1 January 2024.  

 

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2024, have been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. Their adoption has not had 

any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements relating to classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-Current, 

• Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease liability in a sale and leaseback; and 

• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangements. 

 

Other than the above, there are no other significant IFRSs and amendments that were effective for the first 

time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 

 

b) New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

 

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the 

following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

 
 

 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

Amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to treatment of sale 

or contribution of assets from investors 

Effective date deferred 

indefinitely 

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability Effective 1 January 2025 

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures regarding the classification and measurement of 

financial instruments 

Effective 1 January 2026 

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure Financial Statements Issued Effective 1 January 2027 

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures Effective 1 January 2027 

 
The Group anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new 

standards, interpretations and amendments may have no material impact on the consolidated financial 

statements of Group in the period of initial application. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) 

 

 

3. Basis of preparation  

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting standards (“IFRS”) as issued by International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”), and 

applicable requirements of the laws of the United Arab Emirates.  

 

On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 ("Companies Law") was issued and 

came into effect on 2 January 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015.  

 

(b) Basis of measurement 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 

financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). Historical cost is 

generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED) 

which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency and are rounded off to the nearest thousands 

(“000”) unless otherwise indicated.  

 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 

make judgments and estimates that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised prospectively.  

 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in 

applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5. 

 

4. Summary of material accounting policy information 

 

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent 

with those audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 

set out below: 

 

4.1 Consolidation 

 

Subsidiaries 

 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 

controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 

the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  
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4. Summary of material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

4.1 Consolidation (continued) 

 

Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 

on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.  

 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration given 

for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the 

former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration given 

includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling 

interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.  

 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 

interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from 

such re-measurement are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration given and the fair value 

of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 

consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 

recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed off during the year are included in the 

consolidated statement of income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of 

disposal, as appropriate. 

 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same 

way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

 

Loss of control 

 

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 

and any related non-controlling interest (“NCI”) and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or 

loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary 

is measured at fair value when control is loss. 
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4. Summary of material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

4.2 Other intangible assets  

 

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group which have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated to write off 

the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their 

estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

License to operate as a Stock Exchange                                                                 50 years 

 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate. 

 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 

specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

 

4.3 Goodwill  

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration transferred over interest in net 

fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value 

of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 

 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 

impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 

indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised 

immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed. The impairment policy is disclosed in detail 

in note 4.9. 

 

4.4 Property and equipment 

 

Property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment 

loss. The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable 

costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  

 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 

with the expenditure will flow to the Group. 

 

The carrying amount of the land is its initial fair value together with any incidental costs. Subsequent to 

the initial recognition, the land is carried at historical cost less accumulated impairment and is not 

depreciated. Subsequent costs are included in the land’s carrying amount only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. 

 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their estimated 

residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised 

in the consolidated statement of income. Land is not depreciated. 
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4.4 Property and equipment (continued) 

 

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment for current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 Years 

Computers and information systems 3-5  

Leasehold improvements  7   

Furniture and office equipment 3-10 

Motor vehicles 4  

Right-of-use assets 3-5 

 

Depreciation method, useful lives and assets’ residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate. 

 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of income. 

 

Capital work in progress is stated at cost and is transferred to the appropriate asset category when it is 

available for use and is depreciated in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. 

 

4.5 Investment property 

 

Investment property is carried at cost, net of any recognised impairment losses. 

 

Cost includes direct costs, professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 

accordance with the Company’ accounting policy. The carrying amount of the land is its initial fair value 

together with any incidental costs.  

 

Subsequent to the initial recognition, the land is carried at historical cost less accumulated impairment and 

is not depreciated. Subsequent costs are included in the land’s carrying amount only when it is probable 

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably. 

 

Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are 

ready for their intended use. 

 

4.6 Cash and cash equivalents and investment deposits 

 

Cash and cash equivalents and investment deposits are initially recognised at fair value and measured 

subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Impairment of amounts due from 

financial institutions and investment deposits is assessed as outlined in the accounting policy on financial 

assets.    

 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 

hand, current, saving and mudarabah accounts with banks and investment deposits with an original maturity 

of less than three months. 
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4.7 Financial instruments 

 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when they are originated and the Group becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

 

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value 

through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 

 

(a) Financial assets 

 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost; FVTOCI – debt 

investment; FVTOCI – equity instrument; or FVTPL. 

 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its 

business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on 

the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as at FVTPL: 

 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 

and  

• the contractual terms of the instrument give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

A debt investment is measured at FVTOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 

as at FVTPL:  

 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets; and  

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect 

to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). This 

election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI as described above are 

measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may 

irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised 

cost or at FVTOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch 

that would otherwise arise.  
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4.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

(a) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Business model assessment 

 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at 

a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to 

management. The information considered includes:  

 

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. 

These include whether Group management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, 

maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 

duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale 

of the assets; 

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 

business model) and how those risks are managed; 

- how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value 

of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such 

sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not 

considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets. 

 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair 

value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

 

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 

recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk 

associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 

lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group 

considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset 

contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 

would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers: 

 

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features; 

- prepayment and extension features; and 

- terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features). 
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4.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

(a) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (continued) 

 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the 

prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the 

contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual par amount, 

a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par 

amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional 

compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the 

prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 

 

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 

losses and impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Any gain or loss on 

derecognition is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Debt investments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the 

effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, 

gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Equity investments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 

income in the consolidated statement of income (Note 21) unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery 

of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never 

reclassified to the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets: 

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 

Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not 

retain control of the financial asset. 

 

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its consolidated statement of 

financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. 

In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 
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4.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

(a) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of non – derivative financial assets 
 

The Group recognises loss allowances Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) on:  
 

- financial assets measured at amortised cost; and 

- debt investments measured at FVTOCI.  
 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which 

are measured at 12-month ECLs: 
 

- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and  

- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over 

the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.  
 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. When 

determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 

and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 

and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and 

analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-

looking information.  
 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 

days past due.  
 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:  
 

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group 

to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or  

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.  
 

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the 

globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. 
 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 

instrument.  

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 

months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 

months).  
 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 

the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

 

Measurement of ECLs  

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value 

of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the 

contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).  
 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.  
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4.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

(a) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of non – derivative financial assets (continued) 

 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt 

securities at FVTOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events 

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:  

 

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;  

- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;  

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider 

otherwise;  

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or  

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.  

 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 

amount of the assets. 

 

For debt securities at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI. 

 
(b) Financial liabilities  
 

All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and in the case of loans, at fair value of the 

consideration received less directly attributable transactions costs and subseqently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities comprise payables, dividends payable, due to 

a related party, subordinated loan and non-current lease liabilities. 

 

Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of 

income. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in the consolidated statement of income.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 

or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows 

of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the 

modified terms is recognised at fair value. 

 

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the 

consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. 
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4.8 Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated 

statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right 

to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously. 

   

4.9 Impairment on non-financial assets  

 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.  

 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 

inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash 

generating units (“CGUs”). Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups 

of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 

sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset or CGU. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 

amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. They are allocated first 

to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.  

 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed 

only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 

4.10 Employees’ end of service benefits  
 
Provision is made for the employees’ end of service benefits in accordance with the UAE Labour Law for 

their periods of service up to the financial position date. In addition, in accordance with the provisions of 

IAS 19, management has carried out an exercise to assess the present value of its obligations at the 

reporting date, using the projected unit credit method, in respect of employees’ end of service benefits 

payable under the UAE Labour Law. The expected liability at the date of leaving the service has been 

discounted to net present value using an appropriate discount rate based on management’s assumption of 

average annual increment/promotion costs. The present value of the obligation as at 31 December 2024 is 

not materially different from the provision computed in accordance with the UAE Labour Law. The 

provision relating to end of service benefit is disclosed as a non-current liability. 
 

U.A.E. National employees in the United Arab Emirates are members of the Government-managed 

retirement pension and social security benefit scheme.  As per Federal Labour Law No. 7 of 1999, the 

Group is required to contribute between 12.5% - 15% of the “contribution calculation salary” of U.A.E. 

payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.  



Dubai Financial Market (DFM) – PJSC 22  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) 

 

 

4. Summary of material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

4.10 Employees’ end of service benefits (continued) 
 
U.A.E. National employees are also required to contribute 5% - 11% of the “contribution calculation 

salary” to the scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement pension and social 

security scheme is to make the specified contributions. The contributions are charged to the consolidated 

statement of income. 

 

The Group provides for staff terminal benefits based on an estimation of the amount of future benefit that 

employees have earned in return for their service until their retirement. This calculation is performed based 

on a projected unit credit method. 

 

4.11 Provisions 
 
A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group has a legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. Changes in the estimated timing or amount 

of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the 

changes arise. 

 

4.12  Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares 

 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from 

equity.  

Treasury shares 

 

When shares recognised as equity are unalloted, these are recognised as a deduction from equity. Unalloted 

shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury share reserve. When treasury shares 

are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity and the 

resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented within share premium.  
 

4.13 Revenue recognition  

 

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies 

 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group 

recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. The following table 

provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts 

with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies.  
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4.13 Revenue recognition (continued) 

 

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies (continued) 

 

Type of service 

Nature and timing of satisfaction of 

performance obligations, including 

significant payment terms Revenue recognition policies 

Trading commission 

fees 

Trading commission fees represent the 

fees charged by DFM on each trade 

(both buy and sell) undertaken by the 

brokers as per laws & regulations of 

SCA.  

Revenue is recognised at the time 

when the underlying trade has been 

consummated. 

Brokerage fees Brokerage revenue comprises of various 

license and services provided to the 

broker. Invoices are issued to broker 

based on annual/daily subscriptions and 

are payable on presentation. 

 

 

Revenue is recognised at the time 

when the broker utilises the services 

provided by DFM i.e. over the period 

of the annual subscriptions.  

 

Revenue for one-time services are 

recognised at the time when the 

service is provided to the broker. 

Clearing, settlement 

and depository fees 

These services are subscribed by a 

customer/company on a daily/annual 

basis which is payable on presentation of 

the invoice.  

Revenue is recognised at the time 

when the underlying service is 

provided to the customer/company. 

Listing and market 

data fees 

Listing fee is charged to companies that 

list their stocks on DFM.  

 

Market data fee is charged for the use of 

DFM’s market data.  

 

The listing and market data fees are 

applicable for one year or monthly basis 

and is payable on presentation of the 

invoice. 

Revenue is recognised over the 

period of the listing and the period for 

which the customer has access to the 

market data feed as per the contract 

period. 

 

 

Other fees Invoices are issued based on the 

customer/company requests and are 

payable on presentation of the invoice. 

Revenue is recognised at the time 

when the underlying service is 

provided to the customer/company. 

 

4.14  Foreign currency transactions 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange 

gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 

exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. 
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4.15 Leases 
 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 
 
As a lessee 
 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates 

the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. 

However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and 

account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-

of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 

for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred 

and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or 

the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 

date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group 

by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a 

purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 

asset which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-

use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of 

the lease liability. 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 

determined the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 

rate as the discount rate which is determined by obtaining interest rates from various external financing 

sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.  
 

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit 

or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 

of the liability for each period. 
 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 

at the commencement date; 

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 

option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to 

terminate early. 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 

there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 

the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group 

changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is 

a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.  
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4. Summary of material accounting policy information (continued) 
 
4.15 Leases (continued) 
 
As a lessee (continued) 
 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in the consolidated statement of income if the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

 

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and non-current lease liabilities in in 

the statement of financial position and current lease liability in payables and accrued expenses. 
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 

and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with 

these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

4.16 Income tax expense for the year 

 

Income tax expense is recognised at an amount determined by multiplying the profit (loss) before tax for 

the year by management's best estimate of the weighted-average annual income tax rate expected for the 

full financial year, adjusted for the tax effect of certain items recognised in full in the year.  

 

The Group's consolidated effective tax rate in respect of continuing operations for the year ended  

31 December 2024 was 8.2% percent (2023: Nil percent) since the new corporate tax CT regime has 

become effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023.  

 

4.17 Deferred tax 

 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

recognised for the full tax consequences of all temporary differences between the Group financial 

statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Recognition of 

deferred tax assets are, however, restricted to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profits 

will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates that are expected to apply to the period in 

which the asset is expected to be realised or the liability is expected to be settled. 

 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed periodically to reduce the carrying amount by the extent to which it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to utilise the differences. Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are off set when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax asset against current 

tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group 

intends to settle its current tax assets and current tax liabilities on a net basis. 
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5. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4 to these consolidated 

financial statements, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 

if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 

The following are the critical accounting estimates and judgments, that management has made in the 

process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements. 
 
Valuation of unquoted equity investments 
 

Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on recent market transactions on an arm’s 

length basis, fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, expected cash flows discounted 

at current rates for similar instruments, net asset value of the investee company / funds or other valuation 

models. 

 
Estimated useful lives of other intangible assets 

 
Management has estimated the useful economic lives of the other intangible assets based on analysis of 

relevant factors relating to the expected period over which the other intangible assets are expected to 

generate cash inflows to the Group in the foreseeable future. Management assesses the estimated useful 

lives on a periodic basis. 
 
Impairment for goodwill and other intangible assets 
 
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the 

recoverable amount which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any 

impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed. Refer to note 6 for 

estimates and judgments. 
 
On an annual basis, the Group determines whether goodwill is impaired. This requires an estimation of the 

recoverable amount using higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use of the cash generating units 

to which the goodwill is allocated. The Group has considered DFM as a single CGU for impairment testing 

purposes considering it is managed as one unit which is engaged in a single segment of operating stock 

exchanges and related clearing house. Estimating the fair value less costs to sell requires the Group to 

make an estimate for the control premium in order to calculate the fair value less costs to sell.  
 
Other intangible assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 

is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the 

purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 

independent cash inflows. Prior impairment of other intangible assets are reviewed for possible reversal at 

each reporting date. 
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5. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 
 
Depreciation of property and equipment 
 
The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful life, which is based on expected 

usage of the asset and expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operational factors. The 

management has not considered any residual value as it is deemed immaterial. Management assesses the 

estimated useful lives on a periodic basis. 

 

Impairment loss on trade receivables 

 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated 

with financial assets carried at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The 

impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires 

expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. Refer to Note 28.3 for 

detailed assessment of credit risk. 

 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 
 
The Group provides end of service benefits for its expatriate employees in accordance with UAE Labour 

Law. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ length of service and completion of 

a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 

Pension and national insurance contributions for the UAE citizens are made by the Group in accordance with 

Federal Law No. 2 of 2000.  

 

6. Goodwill and other intangible assets 
 

  
 

Goodwill 

License to 

operate as a 

stock exchange 
 AED’000 AED’000 

Cost    
At 1 January 2023 and 2024 2,878,874 2,824,455 

  
  

Amortisation   

At 1 January 2023 - 903,824 

Charge for the year  - 56,489 

  
  

At 31 December 2023 - 960,313 

Charge for the year   56,489 

  
  

At 31 December 2024 2,878,874 1,016,802 

  
  

Carrying amount   

At 31 December 2024 2,878,874 1,807,653 

 
  

At 31 December 2023 2,878,874 1,864,142 
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6. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 
 
Impairment testing of goodwill 
 
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of recoverable amount of the cash 

generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. DFM as a standalone market institution is 

considered a single cash generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment testing purposes. Management assesses 

the recoverable amount of the CGU using the higher of value in use (“VIU”) model and fair value less 

costs to sell. Management has concluded the fair value less costs to sell of the CGU exceeded its carrying 

amount as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: fair value less costs to sell exceeded the carrying 

amount). To arrive at the fair value less costs to sell for the CGU to which goodwill is allocated, the 

management has used the closing quoted market price of DFM as at 31 December 2024 and a control 

premium (net of costs to sell) of 15% (31 December 2023: 15%) to calculate the recoverable amount.  

 

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU is AED 13,800 million (31 December 2023: AED 12,788 

million) as at 31 December 2024 which exceeds its carrying amount of AED 8,575 million (31 December 

2023: AED 8,192 million) by approximately AED 5,225 million (31 December 2023: AED 4,596 million) 

as at that date. Management of the Group, therefore, does not believe that there is any impairment of 

goodwill as at the reporting date. 

 

The following key assumptions were used in 2024: 

  
 

 

Closing quoted market price as at 31 December 2024  AED 1.5/share 

Control premium - net of costs to sell  15% 

 

This fair value less costs to sell measurement would be considered as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.  

 

Management has identified that any reasonable possible change in the two key assumptions would not cause 

the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount.  

 

The Board of the Group believe that the key assumptions are appropriate as at 31 December 2024 and there is 

no impairment of the goodwill as at the reporting date. 
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7(a) Property and equipment 

 

 

Computers and 
information 

systems 
Right-of-use 

assets 

 
 

Leasehold 
improvement 

 
Furniture and   

office 
equipment 

 
 

Motor 
vehicles 

Capital work-in-progress  
 
 

Land 

 
 
 

Total 
 

Others  
Building under 

construction 
   AED’000   AED’000   AED’000   AED’000   AED’000   AED’000  AED’000   AED’000   AED’000 

Cost            
At 1 January 2023 106,335 45,057 23,037 26,675 137 5,690  56,280 231,306 494,517 
Additions 1,299 6,649* - 157 429 14,429  - - 22,963 
Disposals (33) (9,881) - (375) - -  - - (10,289) 
Transfers 5,481 - 9,176 4,472 - (19,129)  - - - 
           

At 31 December 2023 113,082 41,825 32,213 30,929 566 990  56,280 231,306 507,191 
Additions 1,138 21,786* 66 245 - 4,244  875 - 28,354 
Disposals (1,665) (37,123) - (1,722) - -  - - (40,510) 
Transfers 701 - - 33 - (734)  - - - 
Reclassified to investment property 
[Note 7(b)] - - - - - -  (57,155)* (231,306)* (288,461) 
           

At 31 December 2024 113,256 26,488 32,279 29,485 566 4,500  - - 206,574 
           

Accumulated depreciation           

At 1 January 2023 93,027 37,300 21,190 22,394 137 -  - - 174,048 
Charge for the year 8,664 9,203 1,787 1,271 9 -  - - 20,934 
Eliminated on disposals (33) (9,881) - (375) - -  - - (10,289) 
           

At 31 December 2023 101,658 36,622 22,977 23,290 146 -  - - 184,693 

Charge for the year 5,535 8,889 1,612 2,050 107 -  - - 18,193 

Write-off - 1,951 - - - -  - - 1,951 
Eliminated on disposals (1,665) (37,123) - (1,722) - -  - - (40,510) 
           

At 31 December 2024 105,528 10,339 24,589 23,618 253 -  - - 164,327 
           

Carrying amount           

At 31 December 2024 7,728 16,149 7,690 5,867 313 4,500  - - 42,247 
           

At 31 December 2023 11,424 5,203 9,236 7,639 420 990  56,280 231,306 322,498 
           

*During the year ended 31 December 2024, the principal non-cash transactions relate to the recognition of right-of-use assets amounting to AED 22 million (31 December 2023: AED 7 

million) and the reclassification of land and building under construction from property and equipment to investment property amounting to AED 288 million (31 December 2023: Nil).
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7(b) Investment property 

 

 2024 

 AED’000 

  

Balance at 31 December 288,461 

  

 

Investment property represents a plot land located on Sheikh Zayed Road in Business Bay, Dubai UAE. 

The fair value of the investment property at 31 December 2024 was estimated to be AED 413 million. 

During the year, the Group has changed intention to hold the land for an undetermined future use. 

Therefore, the Group has transferred this land plot to Investment Property with a carrying value of  

AED 288 million. 

 

As permitted by IAS 40 Investment Property, the Group has chosen to carry Investment Property under the 

“cost model”. The Group therefore has disclosed the “fair value” of the investment property. The “fair 

value’ disclosed  above has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by an independent valuer. 

The fair value of the investment property has been classified under level 3 of valuation hierarchy. 

 

8. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Designated as equity instruments    

Investment in equity securities  935,304 696,790 

Managed funds – Note 8.1 25,146 61,755 

Investment in sukuk – Note 8.2 270,182 260,403 

   

 1,230,632 1,018,948 

   

 

The Group has made an irrevocable election to designate investment in equity securities, managed funds and 

investment in Tier 1 Bank sukuk as FVTOCI at initial recognition as per IFRS 9 and subsequent changes in 

fair value are presented in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). These are strategic investments not held for 

trading and the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. All investments have been assessed 

and were classified as equity instruments in the underlying entities. The underlying entities were not subject 

to classification as equity merely because of the puttable exemption in IAS 32. 

 

Investments by geographic concentration are as follows: 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

- Within U.A.E. 1,144,971 949,805 

- Outside U.A.E. 85,661 69,143 

   

 1,230,632 1,018,948 
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8. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

(continued) 

 

8.1. Managed funds include funds of AED 7.4 million (31 December 2023: AED 44 million) (Note 15) 

managed by a related party. 

 

8.2. The investments in sukuk are perpetual instruments, callable at the option of the issuers and are 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. The sukuk carry profit rates ranging 

from 3.375% to 5% per annum (31 December 2023: 3.375% to 5% per annum), which are payable at 

the discretion of the issuers. 

 

9. Investments at amortised cost  

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Investment in sukuks 297,082 264,279 

   

 297,082 264,279 

   

 

Investments in sukuk in the UAE mature in 2-7 years and carry fixed profit rates ranging from 2.591% to 

5.5% per annum (31 December 2023: 2.591% -5%) per annum. 
 

10. Investment deposits 
 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Current:   

Investment deposits maturing in less than 3 months  474,392 174,392 

Investment deposits maturing up to 1 year but more than 3 months  2,951,230 2,799,730 

   

 3,425,622 2,974,122 

Non-current:   

Investment deposits maturing after 1 year - 126,609 

   

Total investment deposits 3,425,622 3,100,731 

   

 

10.1. Investment deposits are placed with financial institutions in the UAE and carry profit rates ranging from 

4.50% to 5.60% (2023: 4.90% to 5.85%) per annum. 
 

10.2. Investment deposits of AED 36.73 million (2023: AED 36.73 million) have been pledged as 

collateral against unutilised bank overdraft facilities provided to the Group. 

10.3. Dividends received from and payable on behalf of companies listed on DFM held in myAccount and 

iVESTOR card balances as at 31 December 2024 aggregate AED 1,615 million (31 December 2023: 

AED 1,407 million), which is available for the Company to invest at its discretion in income earning 

assets such as investments in short term deposits of AED 1,491 million (31 December 2023:  

AED 1,270 million), investments at amortised cost of AED 87 million (31 December 2023: AED 91 

million) and mudarabah and current accounts of AED 37 million (31 December 2023: AED 46 

million). As such, the Group assumes an obligation to pay such amounts to the shareholders of the 

listed companies. Until this obligation is discharged, the Group recognises the profit on these 

investments in its consolidated statement of income. 
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11. Prepaid expenses and other receivables 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Accrued income on investment deposits 88,127 82,851 
Central counterparty balances (Note 11.1) 173,414 130,498 
Prepaid expenses 4,714 6,122 
Accrued trading commission fees 3,011 2,003 
Other receivables 4,197 2,724 
Due from brokers  372 1,013 
VAT receivable on capital expenditure 2,658 2,426 

   

 276,493 227,637 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (946) (1,213) 

   

 275,547 226,424 

   

  

Net movement in allowance for doubtful debts: 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Opening balance  1,213 754 
(Reversal)/provision for the year  (267) 459 
   

Closing balance 946 1,213 

   

 

11.1. These balances relate to Dubai Clear LLC and Nasdaq Dubai Limited which act as central counterparties 

for all trades which are usually settled on a T+2 basis. The balance represents receivable from brokers 

against unsettled trades at year end. The corresponding payable balance of the same amount has been 

recorded as a liability at year end (Note 18). 

 

11.2   The Group does not hold any collateral over prepaid expenses and other receivables. 
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12. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Cash on hand 140 145 
Bank balances:   
    Current accounts  16,375 19,622 
    Savings accounts (Note 12.1) 5,734 20 
    Mudarabah accounts (Notes 12.2 & 10.3) 83,954 84,136 
   

 106,203 103,923 

Add: Investment deposits with original maturities not exceeding 

three months  

 

162,030 

 

57,000 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 268,233 160,923 

   

   

12.1. The average rate of return on savings accounts is 0.24 % per annum (31 December 2023: 0.30% per 

annum). 

12.2. The average rate of return on mudarabah accounts is 1.75% per annum (31 December 2023: 3.79% per 

annum). 
12.3. At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group has assessed the recoverability of its cash and 

cash equivalents and considered provision for expected credit loss to be immaterial. 
 

13. Share capital 
 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Authorised, issued and paid up share capital:    
8,000,000,000 shares (31 December 2023: 8,000,000,000 shares) 
of AED 1 each (31 December 2023: AED 1 each)  

 
8,000,000 

 
8,000,000 

   

 
14. Reserves 

 

Statutory reserve 

 

In accordance with the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, the Group has established a statutory 

reserve by appropriation of 10% of the Company’s net profit for each year which will be increased until 

the reserve equals 50% of the share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution, except as stipulated 

by the law. 
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14. Reserves (continued) 

 
 Statutory reserve 

 AED’000 

  

Balance as of 31 December 2022 493,156 

Transfer from net profit for the year 2023 32,944 

  

Balance as of 31 December 2023 526,100 

Transfer from net profit for the year 2024 37,671 

  

Balance as of 31 December 2024 563,771 

  

 
Investments revaluation reserve - FVTOCI 

 

The investment revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of 

financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 

15. Related party transactions and balances 

 

The Group enters into transactions with companies and entities that fall within the definition of a related party 

as contained in International Accounting Standard (IAS) 24: Related party Disclosures. Related parties 

comprise ultimate parent, shareholders, fellow subsidiaries, associates, entity under common control and key 

management personnel. Transactions with such related parties are made on substantially the same terms, as 

those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with external customers and parties. 

 

During the year, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties in the 

ordinary course of business. These transactions were carried out at mutually agreed terms and conditions. 

 
Transactions during the year   

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Fellow subsidiaries and associates of the Ultimate parent   
Investment income  56,079 45,272 

Other fees 60,145 22,394 

Dividend income 42,001 19,530 

Lease payments and other related expenses 8,079 8,660 

Interest on lease  1,091 61 
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15. Related party transactions and balances (continued) 

 
Compensation of key management personnel 
 
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows: 
 
Transactions during the year   

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   
Salaries and short-term benefits 14,298 14,249 

General pension and social security 860 832 

Board of Directors    

- Remuneration to the Nasdaq Dubai Board  834 870 

- Meeting allowance for the Group  795 739 

- DFM board remuneration  2,700 2,700 

   

 

Related party balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Balances   

Fellow subsidiaries and associates    

Managed funds managed by a related party (Note 8.1) 7,421 44,030 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI (Note 8) 953,169 726,196 

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 179,203 188,704 

Investment deposits (Note 10) 659,421 439,392 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12) 97,276 94,655 

   

 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
Due to related parties   
Dubai World Trade Centre – lease liability 13,958 - 

   

   
Parent   
Expenses paid on behalf of the Group  16,530 13,855 
Subordinated loan (Note 15.1) 32,189 32,189 

   

 

15.1 The subordinated loan has been provided by Borse Dubai Limited, to Nasdaq Dubai Limited. The 

subordinated loan is unsecured, has no fixed repayment date and does not bear any interest rate effective 

1 April 2022. This loan is subordinated to the rights of all other creditors of the subsidiary.  
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15. Related party transactions and balances (continued) 

 

The Group has not provided any loans to its directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. 

 

The Group obtains approval from the shareholders with regards to the transactions with related parties in order 

to comply with the provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021. 

 

The Group has applied the partial exemption allowed under IAS 24 to Government owned entities and has 

disclosed the nature and amount of each individually significant transaction and for other transactions that 

are collectively, but not individually, significant, a qualitative or quantitative indication of its extent. The 

ultimate parent and controlling party is the Government of Dubai which owns 80.66% (31 December 2023: 

80.66%) of Dubai Financial Market P.J.S.C. through Investment Corporation of Dubai, a Government of 

Dubai entity. The Group in the usual course of operating Dubai stock exchange incur expenses and receives 

fees based on the standard terms applicable in the market from Government related entities. In addition, 

the Group carries out investment activities with Government related entities on its own behalf. There are 

no other transactions that are individually or collectively significant. 

 

16. Leases 

  

Leases as a lessee (IFRS 16) 

 

The Group leases office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 3-5 years, with an option to 

renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated every 3-5 years to reflect market rentals. 

Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices. 

 

The property leases were entered into as combined leases and renewed on an annual basis.  

 

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below. 
 
i. Right-of-use assets 

 
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties are presented as property and equipment. 

  

Leases as a lessee (IFRS 16) 
 
ii. Lease liabilities 

 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   

Non-current lease liabilities 7,214 2,340 

Current lease liabilities (Note 18) 9,083 2,125 

 
  

 16,297 4,465 

 
  

 
iii. Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of income 

 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,340 117 
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16. Leases (continued) 

 
iv. Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of cash flows 
 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Total cash outflow for lease liabilities 9,344 10,549 

 
  

 
17. Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 21,259 23,162 

Charged during the year 2,955 3,811 

Paid during the year (3,150) (5,714) 
   

Balance at the end of the year 21,064 21,259 

 
  

 

18. Payables and accrued expenses 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Dividends payable on behalf of companies listed on the DFM 

(“MyAccount”) (Note 10.3) 

 

1,119,257 969,629 

iVESTOR cards (Note 10.3) 495,357 436,992 

Members’ margin deposits (Note 18.1) 5,947 10,191 

Accrued expenses and other payables 25,451 19,274 

Central counterparty balances (Note 11.1) 173,414 130,498 

Due to UAE Securities and Commodities Authority  761 366 

Unearned revenue  1,801 1,010 

Zakat 1,167 1,124 

Current lease liabilities (Note 16) 9,083 2,125 
Customer initial public offering (“IPO”) subscriptions 617 24 

VAT payable 4,150 3,611 

 
  

 1,837,005 1,574,844 

 
  

 

18.1 Clearing members are required to provide margins in respect of their clearing and settlement 

obligations to the Group.  Margins are held in segregated accounts in the name of DFM at clearing 

banks. Margins provided by clearing members are used by the Group towards discharging the 

clearing members’ obligations to the Group in the event of default by the clearing member in 

connection with trade settlements. 
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19. Dividends payable 
 

19.1 At On 26 March 2024, the Company has declared dividends for 2023 of AED 279.9 million 

representing AED 0.035 per share including non-sharia compliant income of AED 34.1 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2023 dividends AED 134.7 million representing 

AED 0.016841 per share including non-sharia compliant income of AED 24.7 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2022)  

 

19.2  Unpaid dividends for shareholders other than the Parent company is AED 0.094 million  

(31 December 2023: AED 0.086 million). 

 

20. Investment income 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Investment income from other financial assets measured at 

FVTOCI 

 

11,644 11,644 

Investment income from investments at amortised cost 10,709 10,069 

Investment income from investment deposits 193,329 147,095 

 
  

 215,682 168,808 

 
  

 

21. Dividend income 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2024, dividends received from financial assets measured at FVTOCI 

amounting to AED 43.7 million (31 December 2023: AED 20.2 million) were recognised as dividend 

income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

22. General and administrative expenses 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Payroll and other benefits 86,102 88,904 

Depreciation [(Note 7(a)] 18,193 20,934 

Maintenance expenses 15,004 14,260 

Telecommunication expenses 7,075 6,826 

Professional expenses 5,576 4,740 

iVESTOR expenses 9,463 8,610 

Board of Directors remuneration and expenses 4,329 4,309 

Other expenses 19,453 12,440 

 
  

 165,195 161,023 
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23. Provision for impairment on financial assets 

 

This represents net reversal of provision against long term deposits amounting to AED 18.5 million  

(31 December 2023: AED 8.6 million). 

 

Net movement in impairment on financial assets: 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Opening balance  281,835 281,809 
Reversal of impairment on financial asset (net) (18,517) (8,641) 
Suspended income 7,408 8,667 
   

Closing balance 270,726 281,835 

   

 

24. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

 

 2024 2023 

Net profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  

(AED’000) 376,710 329,404 

 
  

Authorised, issued and paid-up share capital (‘000)  8,000,000   8,000,000  

Less: Treasury shares (’000)  (4,237)  (4,237) 

 
  

Number of shares issued (’000) 7,995,763 7,995,763 

 
  

Basic and diluted earnings per share - AED 0.047 0.041 

 
  

 

25. Commitments  

 

 2024 2023 

 
AED’000 AED’000 

Commitments for the purchase of property and equipment 5,525 985 

Unutilized bank overdraft  186,730 136,730 

 
  

 

In 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with Borse Dubai Limited to acquire the remaining 33% 

shareholding of Nasdaq Dubai Limited against a consideration of AED 148 million. The exercise and 

completion of this acquisition is contingent upon the mutual agreement of the Company and Borse Dubai 

Limited and on a date to be mutually agreed between the Company and Borse Dubai Limited. 
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26. Non sharia compliant income 

 

Non-sharia compliant income as approved by the Company’s Sharia and Fatwa Supervisory Board, has 

been appropriated from retained earnings for distribution by the Group to its shareholders towards 

disbursement by the shareholders for charitable purposes. Based on the ruling of the Sharia and Fatwa 

Supervisory Board, it is the sole responsibility of the individual shareholders to donate their respective 

shares of this amount for charitable purposes.  

 

Year           AED’000 

  

2019 22,539 

2020 30,914 

2021 16,824 

2022 24,683 

2023 34,117 

 

Non-Sharia compliant income of AED 34.1 million relating to 2023 (2023: AED 24.7 million relating to 

2022) as approved by the Company’s Sharia and Fatwa Supervisory Board, has been appropriated from 

retained earnings during the year ended 31 December 2024 and has been distributed by the Group to its 

shareholders towards disbursement by the shareholders for charitable purposes. Based on the ruling of the 

Sharia and Fatwa Supervisory Board, it is the sole responsibility of the individual shareholders to donate 

their respective shares of this amount for charitable purposes.  

 

27. Financial risk management objectives 

 

27.1 Financial risk factors 

 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 

evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core 

to the financial business, and operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 

Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential 

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate 

risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies 

to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.  

 

The Group’s finance department monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the 

Group through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks 

include market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk and profit rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 

risk.  

 

27.2  Market risk 

 

(a)  Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Group’s activities are not exposed to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates 

because substantially all the financial assets and liabilities are denominated in AED or United States Dollar 

(USD) to which the AED is pegged.    
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 

 

27.2  Market risk (continued) 

 

(b)  Price risk 

 

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from quoted equity investments. Equity investments are 

held for strategic rather than trading purposes and the Group does not actively trade in these investments. 

The Group limits equity price risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous monitoring of 

developments in the market. In addition, the Group actively monitors the key factors that affect stock and 

market movements, including analysis of the operational and financial performance of investees. The 

Group as at 31 December 2024 has an equity investment portfolio measured at FVTOCI amounting to 

AED 1,230 million (31 December 2023: AED 1,018 million). 

 

Equity price sensitivity analysis 

 

The sensitivity analyses below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the 

reporting date. 

 

If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower: 

 

• Investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by AED 62 million (31 December 2023: 

AED 51 million) as a result of the changes in fair value of the equity investments.  

 

(c)   Profit rate risk 

 

Profit rate risk is the risk that the value of the future cash flows for the financial instruments will fluctuate 

due to changes in market profit rates. The principal risk to which financial assets and liabilities are exposed 

is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because 

of a change in market profit rates. The Group’s long term financial assets and liabilities are priced generally 

on a floating rate basis, which tracks the changes in market interest rates. 

 

Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to profit rate risk consist principally of investment 

deposits, balances with banks and other financial institutions, investments at amortized cost and investment 

in sukuk measured at FVTOCI. A shift of +/- 50bps in the yield curve would result in an increase/ decrease 

in investment income and equity by AED 20.8 million (31 December 2023: AED 17.9 million). 

 

27.3 Credit risk  
 
The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that the counterparty will cause a financial loss to the 
Group by failing to discharge an obligation. Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to credit 
risk consist principally of investments at amortised cost, investment deposits, other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents. 
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 

 

27.3 Credit risk (continued) 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk before collaterals held or other credit enhancements is as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Financial assets    

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 297,082 264,279 

Investment deposits (Note 10) 3,425,622 3,100,731 

Other receivables (Note 11) 270,832 217,875 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12) 268,233 160,923 

 
  

Total financial assets 4,261,769 3,743,808 

 
  

 

The above table represents a worst-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group without taking 

account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The exposures set out above are based 

on carrying amounts of the financial assets as reported in the statement of financial position. 

 

Investment deposits and cash and cash equivalents  

 

The Group held current investment deposits of AED 3,426 million (31 December 2023: AED 2,974 

million) and cash and cash equivalents of AED 268 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 

AED 161 million) with banks and financial institution counterparties, which are rated P1 or P2, based on 

Moody’s and Fitch ratings. Impairment on cash and cash equivalents and current investment deposits has 

been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The 

Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents and current investment deposits have low credit risk 

based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties and therefore no ECL has been recognised.  

 
The rating of the banks as per Moody’s and Fitch and the respective current investment deposit and cash 
and cash equivalents balances are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
Bank ratings   

P1 2,148,063 323,004 

P2 1,545,652 2,811,764 

  
  

Total 3,693,715 3,134,768 

 
  

 

For non-current investment deposits held with other counterparties, a full IFRS 9 ECL model has been 

applied and allowance for impairment loss of AED 271 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 

2023: AED 282 million) has been recognised.  
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 

 

27.3 Credit risk (continued) 
 
Investments at amortised cost 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in sukuk issued by reputed UAE financial 

institutions, government owned entities and other UAE based entities which are unrated.  

For rated entities, the Group monitors changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit ratings. 

To determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in published ratings by supplementing 

it with available press and regulatory information about issuers. For unrated entities the Group evaluates 

the financial performance of the issuers periodically to monitor changes in credit risk and further 

supplements with available press and regulatory information about issuers. 

For ECL on investments at amortised cost, the 12-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on 

historical data supplied by Moody’s and Fitch ratings. Loss given default (LGD) parameters generally 

reflect an assumed recovery rate of 27% for reputed UAE financial institutions and 40% for other entities 

except when a security is credit-impaired, in which case the estimate of loss is based on the instrument’s 

current market price and original effective interest rate.  

 

The following table presents an analysis of the credit quality of sukuk classified as investment at amortised 

cost and non-current investment deposits with counterparties other than banks. It indicates whether assets 

measured at amortised cost were subject to a 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL allowance and, in the latter 

case, whether they were credit-impaired. 

 

The impairment and loss allowance for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows: 

 

 

At amortised cost  

31 December 2024 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

 

In thousands of AED 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired  

Lifetime ECL - 

credit-impaired 

Gross carrying amounts (amortised cost 

before impairment)  

 

297,082 

 

- 

 

270,726 

Impairment - - (270,726) 

    

Carrying amount 297,082 - - 
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 

 

27.3 Credit risk (continued) 

 

The impairment and loss allowance for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows: 
 

 

At amortised cost  

31 December 2023 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

 

In thousands of AED 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired  

Lifetime ECL  - 

credit-impaired 

Gross carrying amounts (amortised cost 

before impairment)  264,279 

 

182,424 

 

226,020 

Impairment - (55,311) (226,020) 

Loss allowance - (504) - 

    

Carrying amount 264,279 126,609 - 

    

 

The Group did not have any investment in sukuk that were non-performing at 31 December 2024 and  

31 December 2023.  

 

The Group has no collateral in respect of the above investments and there was no movement between stages 

during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. 

 

Other receivables  

 

The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 for trade receivables of AED 272 million 

as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: AED 221 million), which requires lifetime expected credit 

losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the financial assets. The Group has made a full provision 

of AED 0.9 million (31 December 2023: AED 1.2 million) against its doubtful receivables as at  

31 December 2024. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and 

obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 

defaults.  The Group only transacts with licensed brokers and receivables from brokers are secured by bank 

guarantees.  The credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the 

management. 

 

27.4 Liquidity risk 

 

The ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built 

an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium 

and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by 

maintaining adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and by matching 

the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 

liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 

based on the remaining contractual maturities at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The liquidity profile of financial liabilities is as follows: 
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 

 

27.4 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
 Within  

3 months 
3 to 6 

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 to 5 
years 

Over 
5 years 

 
Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
31 December 2024       
Financial liabilities       

Payables and accrued expenses 1,831,054 - - - - 1,831,054 

Lease liabilities (non-current) - - - 7,214 -  7,214  

Subordinated loan  32,189  - - - -  32,189  

Due to a related party 16,530  - - - -  16,530  

Dividends payable   94  - - - -  94  
       

Total financial liabilities 1,879,867 - - 7,214 - 1,887,081 
       

       
31 December 2023       
Financial liabilities       

Payables and accrued expenses 1,570,223 - - - - 1,570,223 

Lease liabilities (non-current) - - - 2,340 - 2,340 

Subordinated loan 32,189 - - - - 32,189 

Due to a related party 13,855 - - - - 13,855 

Dividends payable  86 - - - - 86 
       

Total financial liabilities 1,616,353 - - 2,340 - 1,618,693 
       

 

27.5 Fair value of financial instruments 

 

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most 

advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date.  

 

The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities comprise of cash and cash equivalents, investment 

deposits, financial assets measured at FVTOCI, investments at amortized cost, subordinated loan, 

receivables and payables whose maturity is short term. Non-current investment deposits carry market rates 

of return. Consequently, their fair value approximates the carrying value, after taking into account 

impairment, stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

 
The Group has classified fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 

of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  
 
• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2). 

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 

(Level 3). 
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 

 

27.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 

consolidated statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily 

and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory 

agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 

basis. These instruments are included in Level 1. Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily of 

quoted equity investments classified as FVTOCI. 

 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-

counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise 

the use of observable market inputs where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific 

estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is 

included in Level 2. These investments comprise funds, the fair values of which are based on the net asset 

value provided by the fund managers. 

 

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included 

in Level 3. Level 3 assets represent unquoted private equity and mutual fund investments whose fair value 

is determined based on varying unobservable assumptions which depend on a broad range of 

macroeconomic factors. The carrying values of these investments are adjusted as follows:  
 
• Private equity investments - using the latest available net book value and market approach using 

prevailing secondary market prices of similar instruments 
• Mutual funds - based on the net asset value derived from the EBITDA/PE multiple or value per 

share provided by the fund managers.  
 
Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation techniques 
and assumptions as used for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
 
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The 
following table presents these financial assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023: 
 

 31 December 2024 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income       

 

- Equities 930,713  4,591  -  935,304 
- Managed funds -  25,146  -  25,146 
- Investments in sukuk 270,182  -  -  270,182 
        

Total 1,200,895  29,737  -  1,230,632 
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27. Financial risk management objectives (continued) 
 
27.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis 
 

 31 December 2023 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income       

 

- Equities 690,363  6,427  -  696,790 
- Managed funds -  61,755  -  61,755 
- Investments in sukuk 260,403  -  -  260,403 
        

Total 950,766  68,182  -  1,018,948 
        

        
There were no transfers between each of level during the year. There are no financial liabilities which 
should be categorised under any of the level in table above. 
 
The Group has purchased or invested in shares during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounting to 

AED 14.6 million (31 December 2023: AED 10.3 million). 

 

The following table summarises the carrying amount and fair value of the investments at amortised cost as 

at 31 December 2024, all of which are classified as level 2 in fair value hierarchy: 

 

 

Carrying 

amount Fair value 
 AED’000 AED’000 

Investments at amortised cost   
Investment in sukuk 297,082 279,355 
   

 

The following table summarises the carrying amount and fair value of the investments at amortised cost as 

at 31 December 2023, all of which are classified as level 2 in fair value hierarchy: 

 

 

Carrying  

amount Fair value 
 AED’000 AED’000 

Investments at amortised cost   
Investment in sukuk 264,279 238,091 
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28. Financial assets and liabilities  

 

The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each category of financial assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. 

 

Financial assets by category 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets as per consolidated statement of financial position    

   

Financial assets at FVTOCI   
Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) (Note 8) 1,230,632 1,018,948 

 
  

   

Financial assets at amortised cost   
Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 297,082 264,279 
Investment deposits (Note 10) 3,425,622 3,100,731 
Other receivables (Note 27.3) 270,832 217,875 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12) 268,233 160,923 

 
  

 4,261,769 3,743,808 

 
  

 

Financial liabilities by category 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of financial position    
   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
Subordinated loan (Note 15) 32,189 32,189 
Lease liabilities (Note 16) 7,214 2,340 
Payables and accrued expenses (Note 18) 1,831,054 1,570,223 
Dividends payable (Notes 15 & 19) 94 86 
Due to a related party (Note 15) 16,530 13,855 

 
  

 1,887,081 1,618,693 

 
  

 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost are not materially 

different from their fair values at the balance sheet date. 

 

29. Capital risk management 

 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
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30. Segment reporting  

 

Following the management approach to IFRS 8, operating segments are reported in accordance with the 

internal reporting provided to the Board of Directors (the chief operating decision-maker), which is 

responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and assessing its performance. The Group 

is managed as one unit and therefore the Board of Directors are of the opinion that the Group is engaged 

in a single segment of operating stock exchanges and related clearing house. 

 

31. Social contributions 

 
The Group has made no social contributions during the year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 

AED Nil).  

 

32. Corporate tax 

 
 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
Current tax:   
Tax expense recognized in statement of profit or loss 32,954 - 
Tax expense recognized in statement of comprehensive income 503 - 
Deferred tax:   
Tax expense recognized in statement of comprehensive income 826 - 

 
  

 34,283 - 

 
  

 

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the 

Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal Corporate 

Tax (CT) regime in the UAE. The CT regime will become effective for accounting periods beginning on 

or after 1 June 2023. 

 

Decision No. 116 of 2022 (published in December 2022 and considered to be effective from 16 January 

2023) specifies that taxable income not exceeding AED 375,000 would be subject to a 0% UAE CT rate, 

and taxable income exceeding AED 375,000 would be subject to the 9% UAE CT rate. With the publication 

of this Decision, the UAE CT Law is considered to have been substantively enacted for the purposes of 

accounting for Income Taxes. 

 

Subsequently, the UAE CT Law has been supplemented by a number of Decisions of the Cabinet of 

Ministers of the UAE (Decisions). Such Decisions and other interpretive guidance of the UAE Federal Tax 

Authority provide important details relating to the interpretation of the UAE CT Law and are required to 

fully evaluate the impact of the UAE CT Law on the Company. 

 
The Group is subject to the provisions of the UAE CT Law with effect from 1 January 2024, and current 

taxes have been accounted for as appropriate in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 

beginning 1 January 2024. 

 

The taxable income of the Group for UAE CT purposes will be subject to the rate of 9% corporate tax. On 

24 November 2023, the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) published Federal Decree Law No. (60) of 2023, 

amending specific provisions of the CT Law to facilitate the future introduction of domestic minimum 

taxes under Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Pillar 2 rules. 
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32. Corporate tax (continued) 

 

It is not currently foreseen that the Group’s UAE operations will be subject to the application of the Global 

Minimum Tax rate of 15%. As of 31 December 2024, the Pillar Two legislation has not been yet 

substantively enacted in the UAE. The MoF is expected to provide further details on the legislation. We 

are closely monitoring legislative developments and will provide necessary disclosures following further 

announcements. 

 

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax as follows: 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Profit before tax for the year 409,323 329,583 

 
  

   
Tax at the UAE corporate tax rate of 9% (2023: 0%) 36,839 - 
Tax effect of income not taxable in determining taxable profit (3,851) - 
Tax effect of standard deduction (34) - 

 
  

Income tax expense recognized in statement of profit and loss 32,954 - 
Income tax expense recognized in other comprehensive income 503 - 

 
  

Total corporate tax expense for the year 33,457 - 

 
  

 

The Effective Tax Rate (ETR) of 8.2% (2023: 0%). The delta in the ETR year-on-year is due to introduction 

of the corporate tax being implemented in the UAE. 

 

Deferred tax 

 

In addition to the amount charged to statement of profit or loss, the following amount relating to tax has 

been recognized in other comprehensive income: 

 

 2024 2023 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Deferred tax expense relating to fair value changes on financial 
assets measured at FVOCI 826 - 

 
  

 826 - 

 
  

 

The Group has concluded that there is a deferred tax impact in the form of recognition of deferred tax 

liability of AED 0.8 million as on the reporting date. The deferred tax liability balance related to temporary 

difference amounting to AED 9.2 million (2023: Nil). The deferred liability is recorded in respect to opting 

of election under Article 20(3) of the UAE CT Law. 

 

33. Subsequent events 

 

There have been no events subsequent to the statement of financial position date that would significantly 

affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended  

31 December 2024.  


